## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC.,

Appellants,

VS.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,

Respondent.

81356

Supreme Court Case Electronically Filed Apr 01 2021 04:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPELLENT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL COURT

Robert Kern, Esq. Nevada State Bar No.10104 KERN LAW Ltd. 601 S. 6th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Tele: 702-518-4529 Fax: 702-825-5872

Email: Robert@Kernlawoffices.com

Admin@Kernlawoffices.com

Attorney for Appellant

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC.,

Supreme Court Case No: 81354, 81355, 81356

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This appeal arises from two orders of the Eighth Judicial District Court, in and for Clark County, State of Nevada, the Honorable Nancy Allf, Presiding. The first order was entered on the 8<sup>th</sup> day of June, 2020, (Appendix, p.412). That order denied a motion for preliminary injunction, granted a motion to appoint a receiver, and denied a motion to enforce a settlement agreement. The order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(3) as an order refusing to grant injunctive relief, and under NRAP 3A(b)(4) as an order appointing a receiver. The denial of the motion to enforce the settlement agreement is appealable under ancillary jurisdiction, as it is contained in an order that is otherwise independently appealable. *Vaile v. Vaile*, 396 P. 3d 791 (NV S.Ct. 2017); *Yu v. Yu*, 405 P. 3d 639 (NV S.Ct. 2017).

The second order was entered on the 12<sup>th</sup> day of June, 2020, (Appendix, p.442). That order granted a motion for preliminary injunction, appointed a receiver, and imposed sanctions. The order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(3) as an order granting injunctive relief, and under NRAP 3A(b)(4) as an order appointing a receiver. The order imposing sanctions is appealable under ancillary jurisdiction, as it is contained in an order that is otherwise independently appealable. *Vaile v. Vaile*, 396 P. 3d 791 (NV S.Ct. 2017); *Yu v. Yu*, 405 P. 3d 639 (NV S.Ct. 2017).

#### II.

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The routing of this matter does not clearly fall into one category or the other; Routing to the Supreme Court is supported by the fact that it involves attorney discipline (NRAP 17(a)(4)), and that it is a contract dispute in excess of \$75,000 (NRAP 17(b)(6)). Routing to the Court of Appeals is supported by the fact that this appeal challenges the grant or denial of injunctive relief (NRAP 17(b)(12)). Appellant thus believes it is in the Court's discretion as to where to route the present appeal.

#### III.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the District Court err in denying the motion to enforce the settlement agreement, without notice of when the matter would be heard, without holding an evidentiary hearing, and based upon disputed issues of fact for which no evidence was offered?
- 2. Did the District Court err in appointing a receiver, without notice of when the matter would be heard, without holding an evidentiary hearing, and based upon disputed issues of fact for which no evidence was offered?
- 3. Did the District Court err by imposing sanctions on Muney's counsel for being unable to attend an emergency hearing due to his obligations to a client in a different matter?

#### IV.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes as a consolidated appeal from two District Court orders; the first order dissolved Appellant Muney's Temporary Restraining Order, denied Muney's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, granted Respondent Arnould's Motion to Appoint Receiver, and denied Muney's Motion to Enforce Settlement.

The second order granted Arnould's motion for preliminary injunction, appointed a receiver, and issued sanctions against Muney's counsel.

On October 11, 2019, Respondent Dominique Arnould (hereinafter, "Arnould"), filed a complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court for Dissolution, Appointment of a Receiver, and Breach of Fiduciary Duty, against Appellants Clement Muney (hereinafter, "Muney") and Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (hereinafter, "Chef Exec", or the "Company"). (See Complaint, Appendix p.001). Defendants/Appellants Muney and Chef Exec filed an answer and counterclaims on November 7, 2019. On February 7, 2020, the parties attended a court-ordered settlement conference, at which settlement of all claims and all essential terms was reached, and was entered into the minutes. (See Settlement Minutes, Appendix p.128). Despite the settlement agreement of all claims, on March 13, 2020, Arnould filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking dissolution of the

Company and appointment of a Receiver. Muney opposed the motion and filed a counter-motion for enforcement of the settlement agreement. On May 18, 2020, the Court issued a minute order re-scheduling the hearing of the motion and counter-motion for June 24, 2020. (See Scheduling Minute Order, Appendix, p.230). On May 20, 2020, Muney filed an application for a Temporary Restraining Order and a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, which was heard in a noticed hearing on May 22, 2020. At the May 22 hearing, the Court, without notice to either party, decided to make determinations on the motion for appointment of a receiver, and the motion to enforce settlement agreement, which were scheduled to be heard on June 24, over a month afterward. The Court did not hold an evidentiary hearing, however nonetheless granted the motion to appoint receiver, denied the motion to enforce the settlement agreement, dissolved the temporary restraining order, and denied the motion for preliminary injunction (the Order was entered on June 8). (See 5/22 Transcript & 5/22 Order, Appendix p.382 & p.412). On the morning of June 10, 2020, Arnould filed an emergency motion for appointment of receiver, and a preliminary injunction, seeking a hearing the same day. Counsel for Muney informed the parties and the Court that he was unable to attend a hearing that afternoon, as he had unavoidable schedule conflicts. The Court nonetheless scheduled the hearing for the same day, over Muney's protest, and then continued the hearing to June 12, two days later, when Muney's counsel

was not able to appear. On June 12, 2020, a hearing was held on Arnould's motion. At that hearing the Court granted Arnould's emergency motion for preliminary injunction, granted the motion to select a receiver, and issued sanctions against counsel for Muney, because of his failure to attend the hearing on June 10, 2020. On June 15, 2020, Appellants timely appealed the orders of May 22 and June 12, and those appeals were consolidated by order of the Supreme Court.

#### V.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant Muney and Respondent Arnould formed the company Chef Exec in 2007, for the purpose of selling food-service products to restaurants and other food-service businesses. Muney managed the Las Vegas portion of the business, and Arnould handled the Los Angeles side of the business. (See Answer, Appendix p.006). Chefexec has no operating agreement in place. (See Complaint, Appendix p.001). Chefexec operated smoothly and profitably for its entire existence until Arnould announced that he wished to retire, at which point the parties' failure to reach agreement for a buyout of Arnould's share led to conflict. (See Muney MSJ, Appendix p.018). During the time that a buyout of Arnould was being discussed, the lease on the Las Vegas warehouse came up for renewal, and the renewal

required a personal guarantee by both owners of the company. Muney asked for Arnould's permission to renew the lease, and Arnould refused. Arnould, through his attorney at the time, suggested that Muney lease the warehouse with a company that he owned entirely (so that he would be the only owner required to guarantee the warehouse), and have that company sub-lease the space to Chefexec (See Muney MSJ, Appendix p.018). Muney followed that advice, and with a separate company, leased the space, and sub-leased it to Chefexec, at a rate that Muney was advised was the standard rate for such storage in the area (See Muney MSJ, Appendix p.018). Arnould then complained that the rent of the Las Vegas warehouse was higher than before, and filed the present suit for dissolution.

Company records show that even despite the dispute between the owners, the Company was still operating and profitable up until the COVID-19 pandemic began. (See Muney MSJ, Appendix p.018).

On February 7, 2020, the parties attended a court-ordered settlement conference, at which settlement of all claims and all essential terms was reached, and was entered into the minutes. (See Settlement Minutes, Appendix p.128). The minutes explicitly stated that the agreement resolved all claims, and that the entire matter would be dismissed as a result. The written settlement agreement stated that it included all material terms, and was signed by both parties. (See Muney MSJ, Appendix p.018). Under the agreement, Arnould would pay Muney \$700,000 for

Muney's share of the company, and both parties released all claims. The agreement also stated that it was contingent upon Arnould acquiring financing sufficient to pay the purchase price, and required Arnould to make all reasonable efforts to acquire such financing. (See Agreement, Appendix p.125). A few weeks later, counsel for Arnould emailed Muney stating that they were having trouble getting financing, but might be able to get such financing if Muney was willing to accept payments over time. Muney responded that he was willing to accept payments over time, and was willing to discuss anything that would make acquiring financing easier, though he was unwilling to alter the sales price.

Without further discussion, and despite the settlement agreement, on March 13, 2020, Arnould filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking dissolution of the Company and appointment of a Receiver, with no mention of why they were going forward with litigation in the presence of a settlement agreement. Muney opposed the motion and filed a counter-motion for enforcement of the settlement agreement. (See Mtn to Enforce, Appendix p.129). On May 18, 2020, the Court issued a minute order re-scheduling the hearing of the motion to appoint receiver, and counter-motion for enforcement of settlement agreement, for June 24, 2020. (See Scheduling Minute Order, Appendix, p.230). On May 20, 2020, after Muney discovered that Arnould had funneled all company income into a new bank account, which was in his name only, Muney filed an application for a

Temporary Restraining Order and a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, seeking access to the Company funds, which was heard in a noticed hearing on May 22, 2020. At the May 22 hearing, the Court, without notice to either party, decided to make determinations on the motion for appointment of a receiver, and the motion to enforce settlement agreement, which were scheduled to be heard on June 24, over a month afterward. The Court did not hold an evidentiary hearing, however nonetheless granted the motion to appoint receiver, denied the motion to enforce the settlement agreement, dissolved the temporary restraining order, and denied the motion for preliminary injunction. (See 5/22 Transcript & 5/22 Order, Appendix p.382 & p.412). Arnould's defense to the enforcement of the settlement agreement was based on his arguments that: 1) he had been unable to acquire financing and 2) invoked the defense of "impossibility" due to the COVID-19 pandemic. (See 5/22 Order, Appendix p.412). With regard to his efforts to obtain financing, Arnould showed emails with four lenders asking about a loan. Only one showed that an actual loan application had been made, none showed an outright denial, and two indicated that he would have to put up collateral in order to be approved for a loan. (See Mtn to Enforce, Appendix p.129). To support the argument that compliance with the settlement agreement was impossible, Arnould cited the COVID-19 pandemic, despite the fact that the financing was all sought prior to the pandemic affecting the US. No evidence was provided to support that argument that the

pandemic affected the agreement. The Court issued an order denying the motion to enforce settlement, approving the motion to appoint a receiver, and denying the motion for preliminary injunction to regain control of company funds.

On the morning of June 10, 2020, Arnould filed an emergency motion for appointment of receiver, and a preliminary injunction, seeking a hearing the same day. Arnould claimed that he had, without notice to Muney, driven to the Las Vegas warehouse, and found it locked, and wanted entry. Neither Muney nor his counsel were informed that Arnould was driving to Las Vegas prior to the filing of the emergency motion, and no other explanation of the emergency nature of the motion was provided. Counsel for Muney was scheduled for a Nevada Supreme Court oral argument the following day, and had scheduled six other appellate attorneys to do a practice argument with him, at the same time as the requested hearing. As the oral argument was for the following day, the moot argument could not be rescheduled, and a very significant amount of client resources had been invested in setting it up. Counsel for Muney informed the parties and the Court that he was unable to attend a hearing that afternoon and explained why, and also drafted a quick opposition that morning pointing out that no irreparable harm or emergency had been alleged<sup>1</sup>. (See 6/10 Opp & Emails, Appendix p.432 & p.439).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The emergency motion, which failed to explain why any element of it was an actual emergency, was filed at 9:57am. Counsel for Muney filed an opposition at 10:38am, 41 minutes

The Court nonetheless scheduled the hearing for the same day, over Muney's protest, and then continued the hearing to June 12, two days later, when Muney's counsel was not able to appear. On June 12, 2020, a hearing was held on Arnould's motion. At that hearing the Court granted Arnould's emergency motion for preliminary injunction, granted the motion to select a receiver, and issued sanctions against counsel for Muney, alleging that his failure to attend the same day hearing, despite his conflict, showed disrespect to the Court. (See 6/12 Transcript & 6/12 Order, Appendix p.564 & p.442). This appeal followed.

#### VI.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The present matter is a case in which full terms of settlement were reached and agreed to by both parties, and the failure to enforce, or even allow an evidentiary

later, explaining that he was unable to attend a hearing that afternoon, and pointing out that no emergency or irreparable harm had been alleged. At 10:42am, Muney's counsel emailed Arnould and the District Court informing them that his Supreme Court argument prevented him from being able to attend a hearing that day. At 11:16am, the Court emailed the parties announcing that the hearing would occur that day at 1:30pm, just over two hours after the email. At 11:21am, Muney's counsel emailed the Court and parties protesting that a hearing be held without Muney being represented, and re-iterated that he was unable to attend a hearing that day. (See Hearing Emails, Appendix p.439). Despite knowing he could not attend, the Court scheduled the hearing, and then continued it to Friday so that Muney's counsel could participate. At the Friday hearing, the District Court demanded that Muney's counsel explain his failure to attend the previous hearing. He explained the circumstances, however the Court elected to sanction him for being unable to attend. (See Sanctions Order & 6/12 Transcript, Appendix pp.442 & 564).

hearing on that settlement, has led to a massive amount of wasted court and party resources.

The District Court's act of holding a hearing on the motion to appoint a receiver, and the motion to enforce settlement, over a month before their scheduled hearings, without notice, was improper, and deprived the parties of the process of preparing for the hearing. Further the denial of the motion to enforce, without holding an evidentiary hearing, was outside the District Court's discretion. The District Court further made findings of fact without an evidentiary hearing<sup>2</sup>, and reached conclusions of law that were clearly erroneous<sup>3</sup>. Likewise, the granting of the motion to appoint a receiver, an extreme remedy, was granted without a noticed hearing, and without taking evidence on the issue. The Court's failures on these issues caused a case that had been fully settled to have to undergo years more litigation.

The Court's order imposing sanctions on counsel for Muney, for failing to attend a hearing with less than three hours' notice, when doing so would have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Findings of Fact

<sup>-</sup> Finding that Arnould's efforts at financing were reasonable;

<sup>-</sup> Finding that COVID-19 impacted the parties' ability to perform the agreement;

<sup>-</sup> Finding that allowing both partners access to company accounts would not preserve the status quo.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Conclusions of Law - Conclusion that appointment of a Receiver is necessary;

<sup>-</sup> Conclusion that COVID-19 caused the settlement agreement to be unenforceable;

<sup>-</sup> Conclusion that COVID-19 destroyed the purpose of the settlement agreement;

<sup>-</sup> Conclusion that the purpose of the settlement agreement was frustrated, thus discharging any duties under the agreement.

malpractice against a different client, was improper, and was an abuse of the District Court's discretion.

As the failure to provide a noticed evidentiary hearing on the motions to enforce settlement, and to appoint a receiver were abuses of the District Court's discretion, the orders must be reversed. As the order for sanctions failed to allege any impropriety by Muney's counsel, that Order should be reversed as well.

#### VII.

## **ARGUMENT**

T

DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO ENFORCE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, WITHOUT NOTICE OF WHEN THE MATTER WOULD BE HEARD, WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, AND BASED UPON AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE UNSUPPORTED BY ANY EVIDENCE?

Muney's motion to enforce the settlement agreement was set for hearing on June 24, 2020. At the conclusion of the May 22 hearing on Muney's motion for preliminary injunction, the District Court elected to deny the motion to enforce the settlement agreement, without any notice that the issue would be determined at that hearing, and without holding an evidentiary hearing on the issue. The parties only discovered that the matter would be decided that day when the hearing concluded, and the Court announced that it would be denying the motion to enforce.

#### a. Standard of Review

All questions of law are reviewed de novo. Franchise Tax Bd. of State of California v. Hyatt, 407 P.3d 717, 733 (Nev. 2017), cert. granted sub nom. Franchise Tax Bd. of California v. Hyatt, No. 17-1299, 2018 WL 1335506 (U.S. June 28, 2018); *Matter of L.J.A.*, 401 P.3d 1146 (Nev. 2017). A district court's interpretation of a settlement agreement is subject to de novo review. Dalaimo v. Dalaimo, 390 P.3d 166 (Nev. 2017). A district court's application of law to facts is reviewed de novo. 24/7 Ltd v. Schoen, 399 P.3d 916 (Nev. 2017) (citing Beazer Homes Nev., Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 120 Nev. 575, 579, 97 P.3d 1132, 1135 (2004); D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Green, 120 Nev. 549, 553, 96 P.3d 1159, 1162 (2004)). Although a district court's determination of good faith settlement is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion, in the present case, the District Court's order makes clear that it made no determination of good faith in the settlement. As resolution of this issue rests primarily on interpreting the legal notice and hearing requirements to resolve a motion to enforce a settlement agreement, and to a lesser extent, in interpreting the settlement agreement, review is properly de novo.

b. A motion to enforce a settlement agreement, involving disputes of fact and law, requires an evidentiary hearing, notice of the hearing, and evidence to support the issues of fact to be determined.

As a matter of public policy, enforcement of settlement agreements is strongly favored. This common sense policy is reflected in the decisions of courts around the country, and was explained well by the Arkansas Supreme Court:

Courts should, and do, so far as they can do so legally and properly, support agreements which have for their object the amicable settlement of doubtful rights by parties; the consideration for such agreements is not only valuable, but highly meritorious. Because they promote peace, voluntary settlements. . . must stand and be enforced if intended by the parties to be final, notwithstanding the settlement made might not be that which the court would have decreed if the controversy had been brought before it for decision.

Ragland v. Davis, 301 Ark. 102, 106-107, 782 S.W.2d 560, 562 (1990) (citation omitted, emphasis added). The Supreme Court of Hawai'i agreed, holding:

We acknowledge the well-settled rule that the law favors the resolution of controversies through compromise or settlement rather than by litigation. Such alternative to court litigation not only brings finality to the uncertainties of the parties, but is consistent with this court's policy to foster amicable, efficient, and inexpensive resolutions of disputes. In turn, it is advantageous to judicial administration and thus to government and its citizens as a whole.

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