#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY; AND CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC,

Appellants,

**Electronically Filed** Case Nos.: 81354, 8 49502 2021 05:41 p.m. Elîzábeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Judge Nancy L. Allf Presiding.

### **Marquis Aurbach Coffing**

RESPONDENT DOMINIQUE ARNOULD'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1501 Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 15188 10001 Park Run Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 paurbach@maclaw.com acalaway@maclaw.com Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

First, the district court's orders should not be disturbed, and these appeals should be dismissed. As a threshold issue, the appeals before the Court do not present a justiciable controversy, and they should be dismissed as moot. The defendants failed to request a stay, and allowed the proceedings with the receiver to continue in the district court for over a year. The receiver has been discharged, CES has been completely dissolved, and CES's assets have been distributed. Even reversing the district court will not undue what has transpired in the proceedings below.

Second, even if, *arguendo*, these appeals are justiciable (which they are not), the district court (1) properly denied the motion to enforce the settlement agreement based upon an express condition precedent in the agreement; and (2) properly appointed a receiver – which defendants' attorney even conceded on the record was the appropriate thing to do. Similarly, the district court did not

<sup>51</sup> 1 RA at 235-236.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> 1 RA at 237-242.

abuse or exceed its discretion by sanctioning Kern. Thus, the district court's orders should not be disturbed and should be affirmed.

# A. THESE APPEALS SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS MOOT BECAUSE THE RECEIVER HAS BEEN DISCHARGED, CES HAS BEEN DISSOLVED, AND THE ASSETS ARE ALREADY DISTRIBUTED.

As a threshold issue, this Court must determine whether there is a justiciable controversy before it. As a general rule, this Court will decline to hear a moot case. *Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. in & for Cty. of Clark*, 136 Nev. 155, 158, 460 P.3d 976, 981 (2020). That general rule comports with the Court's duty "to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles of law which cannot affect the matter in issue before it." *Id.* (quoting *NCAA v. Univ. of Nev.*, 97 Nev. 56, 57, 624 P.2d 10, 10 (1981) (internal quotations omitted)).

The question of mootness is one of justiciability. *Cashman Equip. Co. v. W. Edna Assocs.*, *Ltd.*, 132 Nev. 689, 380 P.3d 844 (2016). "Even though a case may present a live controversy at its beginning, subsequent events may render the case moot." *Personhood Nev. v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010). An appeal will become moot when effective relief cannot be granted by reversing

or modifying a district court's order. See e.g. All. for Am.'s Future v. State ex rel. Miller, 128 Nev. 878, 381 P.3d 588 (2012).

Finally, a party seeking to overcome mootness must prove "that (1) the duration of the challenged action is relatively short, (2) there is a likelihood that a similar issue will arise in the future, and (3) the matter is important." *Valdez-Jimenez*, 136 Nev. at 158, 460 P.3d at 982 (quoting *Bisch v. Las Vegas Metro*. *Police Dep't*, 129 Nev. 328, 334-35, 302 P.3d 1108, 1113 (2013)) (internal quotations omitted).

Here, the receiver has already been discharged, CES was already judicially dissolved, and its assets have been distributed to Muney and Arnould in the proceedings below.<sup>53</sup> Notably, defendants opted not to request a stay during the receivership.<sup>54</sup> As such, no justiciable issue remains in these proceedings, and the appeals are moot.

## 1. The district court's appointment of a receiver is moot since the receiver has been discharged.

In Docket No. 81354, Muney and CES seek review of the Court's appointment of a receiver. But, on this record, it does not appear that this Court could grant Muney and CES effective relief by reversing or modifying the district

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> 1 RA at 235-236.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> 1 RA at 235-242.

court's appointment of a receiver, assuming it were so inclined. Any harm allegedly caused by appointing the receiver and dissolving CES has already occurred. While legal issues remain as to whether Muney breached his fiduciary duties, those issues have yet to be resolved by the district court. The order appointing the receiver itself, however, is moot. As such, there is no justiciable controversy and the appeal should be dismissed. *See All. for Am.'s Future*, 128 Nev. 878, 381 P.3d 588 (2012).

## 2. The district court's order denying enforcement of the settlement agreement is moot since CES is already dissolved and its assets distributed.

Muney and CES request appellate review of the district court's order denying the motion to enforce settlement agreement. Once again, this request is moot. It has long been recognized that an appeal or writ of error should be dismissed when a party has conveyed all of his right, title, and interest in the matter in controversy to another. *Wedekind v. Bell*, 26 Nev. 395, 69 P. 612 (1902).

Here, under the agreement at issue, Arnould agreed to buy-out Muney's 50% interest in CES if certain conditions were met.<sup>55</sup> Setting aside the issue of whether the express conditions of the settlement agreement were even met (which they were not), CES was dissolved and its assets distributed to its members Muney and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Appellant's Opening Br., at p. ix.

Arnould, rendering the agreement and any enforcement of it moot.<sup>56</sup> Since the agreement requires a sale of interest in a now dissolved and defunct company, the agreement would be impossible to enforce because there is simply no interest in CES that can be conveyed or bought.<sup>57</sup>

Similarly, the assets of CES have already been distributed by the receiver to Muney and Arnould according to their 50% membership interests in CES.<sup>58</sup> After dissolution, Muney and Arnould each formed a new entity, and a letter was sent by the receiver to each of CES's customers advising them on the dissolution.<sup>59</sup> In the same vein, CES's inventory assets were distributed to each partner based upon a reconciliation and physical audit performed by the receiver.<sup>60</sup> Thus, it would be futile to enforce a settlement agreement that expressly contemplated a split of customer lists and buy-out of inventory when both assets have already been distributed and addressed by the district court in the receivership.<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> 1 RA at 218-222

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> 1 RA at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *Id.* at 20, 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id*.

Therefore, after CES's dissolution and winding up, there is nothing left to appeal, nothing left to distribute (assets or interest), and nothing left to enforce. As such, the appeals are moot and should be dismissed.<sup>62</sup>

## B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT.

"Contract interpretation is subject to a de novo standard of review," but "the question of whether a contract exists is one of fact, requiring this court to defer to the district court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous or not based on substantial evidence." *Eagle Materials, Inc. v. Stiren*, 127 Nev. 1131, 373 P.3d 911 (2011) (quoting *May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672-73, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005)) (internal quotations omitted). Here, the district court did not err in denying the motion to enforce settlement, as the entire settlement was based upon an express condition, and the district court relied on substantial evidence.<sup>63</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Muney re-asserts that Docket No. 81356 lacks jurisdiction as discussed above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> 3 AA at 412-418.

## 1. The district court properly denied enforcement of the settlement agreement because it was expressly conditional upon financing.

The issue is whether the agreement can be enforced when it was expressly contingent on Arnould's ability to obtain financing for the purchase. The evidence showed that Arnould could not.<sup>64</sup>

A settlement agreement is a contract, and its construction and enforcement are governed by principles of contract law (offer, acceptance, consideration). *May*, 121 Nev. at 672, 119 P.3d at 1257. It is a well-established principal of Nevada contract law that, "[w]hen contracting, a promisor may incorporate into the agreement a 'condition precedent'—that is, an event that must occur before the promisor becomes obligated to perform." *Cain v. Price*, 134 Nev. 193, 415 P.3d 25 (2018) (internal quotations and citations omitted); *see*, *e.g.*, *NGA #2 Liab. Co. v. Rains*, 113 Nev. 1151, 1158-59, 946 P.2d 163, 168 (1997) (citing *New Orleans v. Texas & Pacific Railway*, 171 U.S. 312, 333, 18 S.Ct. 875, 883, 43 L.Ed. 178 (1897) ("A condition precedent to an obligation to perform calls for the performance of some act after a contract is entered into, upon which the corresponding obligation to perform immediately is made to depend.")); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 224 (1981).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *Id*.

A condition precedent can either be expressly provided for in the contract, or an implied condition precedent that is "inferred from a contract's terms and context, even when the contract does not explicitly so provide." *Las Vegas Star Taxi, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 102 Nev. 11, 12, 714 P.2d 562, 562 (1986). Regardless of a condition's form, unless it has been excused, the non-occurrence of a condition in a contract discharges the duty when the condition can no longer occur. *Warner Bros. Int'l Television Distribution v. Golden Channels & Co.*, 522 F.3d 1060 (9th Cir. 2008) (citing Restatement § 225(2)).

Here, the agreement contained an express condition precedent, that settlement "shall be contingent upon . . . Dominique Arnould being able to obtain financing sufficient to allow him to pay the purchase price of the Sale . . . seeking to obtain such financing from all reasonable sources." <sup>65</sup> Arnould provided evidence that he was unable to obtain financing, and the lenders have made it clear that Arnould would not be able to obtain financing under the terms of the agreement. <sup>66</sup> The district court properly relied upon this evidence. <sup>67</sup>

In addition, the district court properly took judicial notice of the state and national emergencies related to COVID-19, the severe detrimental impact it had on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> 1 AA at 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> 1 AA at 191-204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> 3 AA at 412-415.

the outlook of CES's business prospects, and properly concluded that these events constituted an unforeseen contingency that changed the circumstances surrounding the settlement and frustrated the proposed of the settlement.<sup>68</sup> The district court also noted that the COVID-19 pandemic undermined Arnould's ability to obtain financing.<sup>69</sup> As such, the district court properly denied the motion to enforce, based upon the express condition in the settlement agreement and substantial evidence on the record.

## 2. <u>Muney and CES failed to request an evidentiary hearing</u> and, thereby, failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

The next issue is whether Muney and CES ever requested an evidentiary hearing on their motion to enforce settlement agreement. The record reveals that they did not. <sup>70</sup> Despite the fact that they never even requested such a hearing, they argue that the district court should have *sua sponte* provided them an evidentiary hearing before denying their motion to enforce settlement agreement. This argument lacks merit and is contrary to Nevada law.

When a party does not request an evidentiary hearing below, he may waive his right to one. *Diversified Capital Corp. v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 95 Nev. 15, 21, 590 P.2d 146, 149 (1979) (concluding that appellant's failure to request an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> *Id.* at 415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> 1 AA at 129-174; *Id.* at 205-229; 2 AA at 382-411.

evidentiary hearing "militate[s] against appellant's claim that the procedures below violated its right to due process."); *see also Evans v. Evans*, 133 Nev. 1007 (Nev. App. 2017). For example, in *Diversified*, the appellant never requested a formal evidentiary hearing, and the court concluded it waived its right to one. *Id*.

Here, Muney and CES never requested an evidentiary hearing before the district court, and as a result, they waived their opportunity to request one.<sup>71</sup> Defendants did not raise the issue in their briefing;<sup>72</sup> nor did they raise it orally.<sup>73</sup> Accordingly, defendants' argument that the district court in some way erred in denying their motion to enforce settlement agreement without *sua sponte* setting an evidentiary hearing wholly lacks merit. It is not the district court's role to advocate for plaintiff, defendants, or any party for that matter.

Even if, *arguendo*, defendants had requested an evidentiary hearing (which they did not), they failed to raise any factual issues that would warrant such a hearing.<sup>74</sup> The undisputed evidence before the district court was that the entire country (and world) was facing an unknown viral pandemic<sup>75</sup> and that, despite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See 2 AA at 383-411.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> 1 AA at 129-142.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> *Id.*; *see also*, 3 AA at 412.

efforts by Arnould, every inquiry he made as to financing was refused. <sup>76</sup> Defendants seem to suggest that the district court should have (1) imagined facts on behalf of defendants; and (2) ordered an evidentiary hearing *sua sponte*. Such is not the law nor burden of a district court. As such, the district court did not err in denying defendants' motion to enforce settlement.

## 3. <u>Muney and CES were provided notice of a hearing for the enforcement of the settlement agreement.</u>

Contrary to defendants' arguments, they were absolutely provided notice of a hearing for the motion to enforce.<sup>77</sup> Indeed, they appeared at the hearing, fully briefed their positions, and argued their motion to enforce settlement agreement.<sup>78</sup> In fact, the hearing itself was 40 days overdue.<sup>79</sup>

Notice of a hearing must be served at least 21 days before the hearing pursuant to NRCP 6(c)(1). This rule carves out certain exceptions to the general 21-day requirement for local rules or court orders otherwise. *See* NRCP 6(c)(1)(B)-(C). Consistent with NRCP 6(c)(1)(B), the Chief Judge of the Eight Judicial District Court entered Administrative Order(s) 20-01 through 20-14;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> 1 RA at 8-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> *Id.* (the hearing had been set for April 15<sup>th</sup> but was continued multiple times until it was ultimately set on May 22, 2020).

20-16; 20-17; 20-22 through 20-24; 21-01; and 21-03 which allowed district courts to decide matters on the papers and mandated civil hearings to be handled remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Here, Muney and CES were provided with 60 days of advance notice of the hearing and provided notice of the hearing on four (4) different occasions before the district court heard their motion.<sup>80</sup>

First, on March 23, 2020, the district court provided Muney and CES with notice that a hearing for the motion to enforce settlement was set for April 15, 2020 at 10:30 a.m. <sup>81</sup> Second, on April 14, 2020, the district court issued a minute order vacating the April 15th hearing and continued the hearing to May 20, 2020 at 10:30 a.m. <sup>82</sup> The district court's minute order provided that "pursuant to Administrative Order 20-01 in response to COVID-19 concerns, all currently scheduled non-essential District Court hearings are . . . decided on the papers, or rescheduled unless otherwise directed by a District Court Judge." Third, on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> 1 RA at 6-7.

<sup>82 1</sup> RA at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> *Id*.

May 18, 2020, the district court continued the hearing again to June 24, 2020.<sup>84</sup> The district court's minute order reiterated the same COVID-19 concerns.<sup>85</sup>

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